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May 6, 2025 

The Honorable Dana Nessel 
Office of the Attorney General 
525 W. Ottawa Street 
P.O. Box 30212 
Lansing, MI 48909 

Request for Investigation into Discriminatory DEI Practices at Henry Ford 
Health in Violation of Federal and Michigan State Law  

Dear Attorney General Nessel: 

America First Legal Foundation (“AFL”) is a national nonprofit organization 
committed to upholding the rule of law and the principle of equal protection under 
the law for all Americans.  

We respectfully request that your office exercise its statutory and constitutional 
enforcement powers1 to open an immediate investigation into Henry Ford Health 
(“HFH”), a Detroit-based healthcare system whose policies and practices reflect 
pervasive violations of Michigan’s constitutional and statutory prohibitions on 
discrimination. This request is supported by substantial evidence that HFH has 
implemented race-, sex-, and identity-based preferences across core operations 
through a sweeping “Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion” (“DEI”) regime—one that has 
subordinated merit to ideology and equal treatment to demographic quotas. 

Since 2021, HFH has received nearly $1 billion in federally obligated DEI-related 
grants2 and has partnered extensively with Michigan’s public universities to operate 
taxpayer-funded residency and training programs. The result is a sprawling system 
in which patients, employees, students, and vendors are treated not as individuals 
but as representatives of identity groups. HFH has implemented these discriminatory 

 
1 See MICH. COMP. LAWS § 37.2101, et seq. (Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act); MICH. CONST. art. I, §§ 2, 
26 (guaranteeing equal protection and prohibiting preferential treatment in public employment, 
education, and contracting). These provisions collectively empower your office to investigate and 
enforce civil rights laws against discriminatory systems that affect the public interest. 
2 Project Grant (FAIN: UG3OD035518), USASPENDING, https://perma.cc/BVL4-2MWS (HHS award). 
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practices throughout hiring, promotion, contracting, medical education, and even 
transplant eligibility. Accordingly, your office has not only a civil rights enforcement 
duty, but a fiscal oversight obligation to ensure that federal funds administered in 
partnership with Michigan institutions are not misused to support discriminatory 
systems in violation of state law.3 

AFL has submitted a parallel federal civil rights complaint to the U.S. Department 
of Health and Human Services (“HHS”), Office for Civil Rights (“OCR”), citing 
violations of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, Section 1557 
of the Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. No. 111–148, 124 Stat. 119, 260, and Exec. Order 
No. 14,173, 90 Fed. Reg. 8633 (Jan. 31, 2025).4 However, these same practices raise 
serious and independent concerns under Michigan law. 

I. Violations of Michigan Law 

A. Violations of the Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act  

Michigan’s Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act (“ELCRA”), MICH. COMP. LAWS § 37.2101, 
et seq., makes it unlawful for an employer to discriminate in hiring, promotion, 
training, or compensation on the basis of race, sex, national origin, or other protected 
traits. Yet HFH’s internal hiring policies impose race- and sex-based quotas, enforced 
by an “Executive Diversity Recruitment Committee” that has the power to block the 
appointment of qualified white male candidates to senior leadership positions.5 
Notably, HFH also links executive bonus compensation to DEI benchmarks, with up 
to 10 percent of annual incentive pay tied directly to meeting diversity targets.6 These 
incentives create systemic pressure to prioritize identity over qualifications, 
disadvantage otherwise qualified individuals, and violate ELCRA’s express 
prohibition on unequal treatment in employment and education. There could hardly 
be a more obvious violation of ELCRA than directly tying management compensation 
to race- and sex-based hiring quotas. 

 
3 See MICH. CONST. art. V, § 8 (authorizing the attorney general to “take care that the laws be faithfully 
executed”); MICH. COMP. LAWS § 14.28 (requiring the attorney general to prosecute actions in which 
the state is interested and to protect the rights and interests of the people); see also MICH. COMP. LAWS 
§ 18.1501 (requiring state departments and agencies to ensure that the expenditure of federal funds 
complies with all applicable state laws). 
4 Letter from Megan D. Redshaw, Am. First Legal, to Anthony Archeval, Acting Dir., Off. of Civil Rts., 
U.S. Dept. of Health and Hum. Servs. (Apr. 28, 2025), https://perma.cc/3WCG-C394.  
5 Lola Butcher, Henry Ford Health System Board Essential for Diversity, AHA TR. SERVS. (Apr. 5, 2021), 
https://perma.cc/24NF-95EB. 
6 Id.  



 

 3 

Additionally, residency and clerkship opportunities are evaluated, in part, based on 
race, sex, and other protected characteristics, with HFH giving preference to 
applicants who identify with certain identity groups.7 HFH offers identity-restricted 
medical clerkship stipends only to those who identify as “racial and ethnic minorities, 
LGBTQI-identified or gender nonconforming individuals,” categorically excluding 
otherwise qualified applicants on the basis of immutable characteristics.8  

B. Violations of Michigan’s Equal Protection Clause (Article I, § 2) 

HFH’s extensive partnerships with Michigan’s public universities—including 
Michigan State College of Human Medicine, Wayne State University School of 
Medicine, and Michigan State University College of Osteopathic Medicine—further 
entangle its policies with state action. Under Article I, § 2 of the Michigan 
Constitution, public institutions and actors cannot deny individuals “equal protection 
of the laws” or discriminate based on race or national origin. HFH’s use of public 
partnerships and funding to implement identity-based treatment protocols, hiring 
standards, and educational programming makes it subject to this constitutional 
constraint. 

C. Violations of Proposal 2 (Article I, § 26) 

These same partnerships, which include publicly funded residency and research 
programs operated in collaboration with state universities,9 implicate Article I, § 26 
of the Michigan Constitution, commonly known as Proposal 2, which prohibits any 
public institution from discriminating against, or granting preferential treatment to, 
“any individual or group on the basis of race, sex, color, ethnicity, or national origin 
in the operation of public employment, public education, or public contracting.” See 
MICH. CONST. art. I, § 26. While HFH is nominally a private entity, it administers 
core aspects of its clinical training and educational programs through publicly 
supported infrastructure and in partnership with Michigan’s public universities. In 
doing so, HFH acts as an extension of those institutions and is therefore bound by the 
same constitutional limitations. Its identity-based employment, academic, and 
contracting preferences violate the plain text and purpose of Proposal 2. 

D. Discrimination in Medical Services Under the Public Health Code 

 
7 Orthopedic Surgery Residency: Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion, HENRY FORD HEALTH, 
https://perma.cc/M47A-WJ46. 
8 Underrepresented in Medicine Visiting Clerkship Scholarship, HENRY FORD HEALTH, 
https://perma.cc/JX5L-6S4V (emphasis added). 
9 Project Grant (FAIN: R01ES035740), USASPENDING, https://perma.cc/LC4M-GPDX (HHS award). 
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Finally, HFH’s patient care and organ transplant practices raise serious legal and 
ethical concerns under the Michigan Public Health Code, MICH. COMP. LAWS 
§ 333.20141(1), which prohibits licensed health facilities from discriminating in the 
delivery of medical services. HFH openly states that its transplant program is 
committed to “equitable access to organ transplantation and associated outcomes,” 
and implies that race and social vulnerability are considered to “improv[e] equity 
across access to and outcomes from transplantation.”10 Although the program 
includes a cursory disclaimer that patients are evaluated regardless of identity, the 
surrounding framework subordinates clinical judgment to DEI benchmarks, 
effectively introducing race-based prioritization into life-and-death decisions.  

E. Use of ‘Increasing Organ Transplant Access’ Model to Advance 
Discriminatory Practices  

HFH is also an official participant in the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services’ 
(“CMS”) Increasing Organ Transplant Access (“IOTA”) Model, which ties federal 
reimbursement to equity benchmarks and requires institutions to implement formal 
“health equity plans.”11 As part of that participation, HFH is also required to identify 
race-based disparities, develop targeted interventions, conduct resource gap 
analyses, and track progress toward race-conscious performance metrics and long-
term equity goals.12 

HFH’s transplant program openly embraces this framework, incorporating race and 
social vulnerability into eligibility metrics. These life-and-death decisions are no 
longer governed solely by clinical need, but by a bureaucratic equity model designed 
to engineer outcomes by demographic category. 

Federal mandates are not a license to violate state civil rights laws. No federal model 
can authorize a Michigan healthcare system to embed race-, sex-, or identity-based 
discrimination into clinical decision-making. If HFH is weaponizing IOTA to 
prioritize patients based on demographic traits rather than medical need, that 
conduct is not just unlawful—it is morally indefensible. The Attorney General is not 
merely empowered but constitutionally obligated to investigate and stop any misuse 

 
10 Diversity Equity and Inclusion Research, HENRY FORD HEALTH, https://perma.cc/T5QH-BTS2. 
11 Medicare Program; Alternative Payment Model Updates and the Increasing Organ Transplant 
Access (IOTA) Model, 89 Fed. Reg. 84128 (Dec. 4, 2024), https://perma.cc/L4YP-6PGF; Increasing 
Organ Transplant Access (IOTA) Model, CTRS. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS., 
https://perma.cc/L3E4-GTZZ. 
12 Henry Ford Health, Comment Letter on Proposed Rule Alternative Payment Model Updates and 
the Increasing Organ Transplant Access (IOTA) Model at 6–7 (July 3, 2024), https://perma.cc/6XKW-
7NCF. 
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of federal programs that erodes the guarantees of equal protection under the 
Michigan Constitution. 

II. Requested Investigatory and Enforcement Actions 

These practices are not only unlawful under federal law, as detailed in our April 28, 
2025, complaint to HHS/OCR, but also incompatible with the statutory and 
constitutional protections afforded to Michigan citizens. To the extent that individual 
practitioners or administrators have enforced or abided by such standards, their 
conduct may also warrant professional discipline under MICH. COMP. LAWS 
§ 333.16221. 

HFH has attempted to conceal these policies by removing DEI-related content from 
its public-facing website; however, internal job postings, grant disclosures, and policy 
statements confirm that race- and sex-based discrimination remain embedded across 
the organization. Failure to investigate and remedy these practices could expose the 
State of Michigan to legal and reputational risk, particularly if federal funding is 
shown to have supported discriminatory programs operated in partnership with 
public institutions under state authority. 

HFH’s President and CEO, Robert G. Riney, has openly acknowledged the 
institutionalization of these practices, stating that the organization has “embarked 
on an extensive, multi-year journey, guided by our Diversity, Equity, Inclusion, and 
Social Justice Strategic Plan.”13 These are not isolated initiatives—they are 
embedded into the system’s long-term governance, staffing, training, and care 
delivery. 

Accordingly, AFL urges your office to initiate an immediate investigation into HFH’s 
discriminatory conduct. Specifically, we request that you: 

I. Conduct a thorough review of all HFH programs, departments, and policies 
that incorporate race-, sex-, or identity-based criteria—including those 
operating under the banners of DEI, “health equity,” “social determinants of 
health,” or any other euphemism for unlawful discrimination—and take all 
necessary legal and administrative action to eliminate any practice that 
violates state or federal civil rights laws. 

II. Require HFH to rescind any policy or initiative that conditions access to care, 
education, employment, or advancement on an individual’s race, sex, or 

 
13 Henry Ford Health Named as One of ‘America’s Greatest Workplaces for Diversity 2023,’ HENRY FORD 
HEALTH (Mar. 2, 2023), https://perma.cc/89ZK-ERLC. 
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political ideology, and to implement institution-wide corrective measures to 
bring its healthcare system into full compliance with Michigan’s constitutional 
and statutory nondiscrimination mandates. 

III. Although CMS mandates participation in the IOTA Model for selected 
hospitals, federal compulsion does not excuse state-sanctioned discrimination. 
Your office retains full constitutional and statutory authority to investigate 
whether its implementation violates Michigan civil rights laws—and to 
publicly oppose continued participation in any federally imposed model that 
incentivizes unlawful discrimination. 

AFL has enclosed documentation in support of this request, including a copy of our 
federal civil rights complaint and accompanying exhibits. This letter places your 
office, including the “Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion” division within your Executive 
Office,14 on formal notice of Henry Ford Health’s discriminatory practices and the 
serious legal violations they appear to present.  

We expect your office to act promptly and decisively to investigate this conduct and 
enforce Michigan’s civil rights laws. Should you fail to do so, AFL will pursue all 
available legal, administrative, and public avenues to ensure accountability. We also 
urge you to examine whether the State of Michigan—including the Office of the 
Attorney General—is itself supporting, funding, or institutionalizing similar 
unlawful policies under the banner of DEI.  

The people of Michigan deserve a government that enforces the law, not ideology. 
Thank you for your attention to this matter.  

 

Sincerely, 
/s/ Megan D. Redshaw 
America First Legal Foundation 
 

Cc: Elizabeth Hertel, Director, Michigan Department of Health and Human 
Services 
John E. Johnson Jr., Executive Director, Michigan Department of Civil Rights 
Koula Black, Director of Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion, Executive Office, 
Michigan Department of Attorney General 
Steven Mitchell, Acting Regional Director, Office for Civil Rights, Region V 

 

 
14 Diversity, Equity, & Inclusion (DEI), MICH. DEP’T OF ATT’Y GEN., https://perma.cc/PTS5-SRYH. 
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